IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-615

DANIEL OWEN CONAHAN, JR.

Appellant, v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director Florida Bar #0066850

CRAIG J. TROCINO Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar #996270

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel (954) 713-1284 Fax (954) 713- 1299

COUNSEL FOR MR. CONAHAN

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Conahan's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" - record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PCR" records on prior 3.850 appeals to this Court;

"T" indicates the transcript of the postconviction evidentiary hearing

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Conahan has been sentenced to death. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Conahan through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit, in and for Charlotte County, Florida entered the judgments of convictions and death sentences at issue. On February 25, 1997, Mr. Conahan was indicted on one count of first-degree premeditated murder, one count of felony first degree murder during the commission of or attempt to commit kidnapping; one count of kidnapping with intent to commit or facilitate the commission of sexual battery, and one count of sexual battery. On August 9, 1999, Mr. Conahan waived his right to a jury trial for the determination of his guilt, and the case went to trial before Twentieth Circuit Judge William Blackwell, who appointed himself on August 5, 1999, following the disqualification of Circuit Court Judge Ellis on August 2, 1999. Although Judge Blackwell granted trial counsel's motion for judgment of acquittal on the sexual battery charge, the trial court found Mr. Conahan guilty on the three other counts. The trial court then considered and granted trial counsel's motion for change of venue from Charlotte County to Collier County for purposes of the penalty phase, which was conducted on November 1-3, 1999 in Naples, Florida. The jury impaneled for the penalty phase returned a unanimous recommendation of death. The trial court conducted a Spencer hearing on November 5, 1999. At that hearing victim Montgomery's brother and mother read victim impact statements to the Mr. Conahan also testified and both parties subsequently provided court.

sentencing memorandums to the trial court.

On December 10, 1999, the trial court sentenced Mr. Conahan to death on Count I, first-degree premeditated murder, and to fifteen years in prison for Count three, kidnapping. The State entered a nolle prosequi as to Count II, first degree felony murder. The trial court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) the murder was committed during the commission of a kidnapping; (2) the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP); and (3) the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC). The court failed to find the only statutory mitigation argued, that the victim was a participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to the act. The trial court did find four non-statutory mitigating circumstances under the catchall section 921.141(6)(h): (1) Mr. Conahan was a loving son who displayed loyalty, affection, and service to his parents; (2) he worked to improve himself by enrolling in nursing school; (3) he had good, helpful relationships with his aunt Betty Wilson and the members of the Linde family; (4) he is hard working. Mr. Conahan subsequently appealed the decision of the trial court to the Supreme Court of Florida. His initial brief raised five issues. The Court denied relief after oral argument. See Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 2003). A petition for certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was denied on October 6, 2004. Mr Conahan filed his initial motion for postconviction relief in this court on October 1, 2004. An amended motion for postconviction relief was filed on July

17, 2009 and on October 21, 2009. An evidentiary hearing was held and the circuit court entered an order denying relief. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During the trial, Mary Montgomery, Richard Montgomery's mother, testified emphatically that she had told police during her sworn statement that her son had mentioned he had a new friend. According to her trial testimony her son's new friend was named Conahan or Carnahan, was a nurse, lived in Punta Gorda Isles, used to be in the Navy and was much older than her son. (R. 1109-1110). She also went on to testify that that someone offered her son \$200 to pose nude for pictures and that only a psychopath who would want to kill her son would do so. (R. 1110). When confronted on cross-examination with the fact that this information was not in the transcript of her sworn statement to the police, she proclaimed that she said those things where the transcript identified it as "inaudible." (R. 1113). Mrs. Montgomery claimed repeatedly that she told this information to the police in the portions of her sworn statement that indicate it was inaudible. (R. 1113, 1116-1117). Mrs. Montgomery stated, "it's right in here where I start talking and I think it was in the part where it said inaudible, inaudible. And there's – a lot of what I said isn't there." (R. 1113). Further referencing the portions where it said inaudible Mrs. Montgomery said "It was a long time I was talking and it was right in there that I would have described that. And I -- the reason I remember it so well is because my mom was from Boston and she'd always leave out her Rs, and I remember the name Carnahan and he says, No, it

doesn't have an R in it." (R. 1117)(emphasis added).

During the postconcivtion evidentiary hearing, Barry Dickey, a forensic audio expert reviewed the tape recording of Mrs. Montgomery's sworn statement. Upon his expert review he concluded that Mary Montgomery did not utter the word "Conahan" or "Carnahan" in her sworn taped interview with Agent Gaconi. (T. 44-45). Indeed, the state stipulated at the evidentiary hearing that Mary Montgomery never said Conahan or Carnahan on the audio taped statement to the police. (T. 53).

Mrs. Montgomery, in her trial testimony, unequivocally said that she "remembered" telling the police additional information but it was inexplicably not in the recording of the sworn statement. (R. 1107). She even went so far as to point to the designated inaudible sections of the transcript of her statement and proclaim that she said it "where it said inaudible." (R. 1113). For instance, Mrs. Montgomery says, "I remember telling them that. There is a lot in my statement that I remember saying that isn't on the tape." (T. 682; R. 1107). Tellingly, in the original transcript of the statement, Mrs. Montgomery is asked if "other than Bobby ... do you know of any other male that he [her son Richard] would have been having a relationship with ..." (Transcript of Mrs. Montgomery's Statement, p. 23). Her response in the original transcript was inaudible. However, upon Mr. Dickey's analysis it was determined that her response was simply "no." (Def. Ex.

B, p. 23).

Agent Gaconi, who administered the sworn statement to Mrs. Montgomery, testified that she never told him that her son knew someone with the name Conahan or Carnahan nor did she ever mention her son knew someone who was a nurse or had been in the Navy. (T. 319) Agent Gaconi testified that if a witness were to mention a name it would be important to record that name in a report. Specifically, Agent Gaconi stated that if a witness mentioned the name of someone that name would be documented. (T. 304). Indeed, Agent Gaconi's report includes references to the names of people named Brad, Bobby, Tim and Scott. (T. 322). His report also mentions that Scott's mother is named Kim. Agent Gaconi's report even goes so far as to make note of the name, Denise Tartis, who was Richard Montgomery's camp counselor when he was sixteen years old. (T. 315-316). Missing entirely from his notes and reports, is the mention of the name Conahan or Carnahan. According to Gaconi, if a witness had "relevant information of something, we would do a sworn, taped statement from them." (T. 304)

The instant investigation was a large multi-agencey task force that generated more that 6,000 pages of police notes and investigation. Those reports indicated definitively that Mr. Conahan's name does not appear anywhere in the vast investigation until May 8, 1996. (T. 388). Detective Ricky Hobbs testified that he

first heard of Mr. Conahan on May 8, 1996 after he received a phone call from an officer at Glades Correctional Institution in Moore Haven, Florida regarding an inmate there. (T. 388-389; 391). According to Hobbs' report there was no mention of Mr. Conahan prior to May 8. (T. 392). Sergeant Goff also testified that the first mention of Mr. Conahan was in relation to an inmate in Moore Haven. (T. 377). Buttressing this fact is a memo from a meeting of the Task Force dated May 8, 1996 that indicated Detective Hobbs discussed a "new lead from Moore Haven" and related that lead at the meeting. (T. 388). Additionally, according to Detective Columbia, the first appearance of Mr. Conahan's name was May 10, 1996. (T. 349)

Assistant State Attorney Robert Lee testified that Mrs. Montgomery gave only one sworn statement taken April 18, 1996. (T. 684). Mr. Lee claimed that Mrs. Montgomery gave a statement to him directly but he never recorded or otherwise documented the conversation. The lack of documentation of this alleged statement was presumably so Mr. Lee would not be obligated to disclose the conversation. (T. 685). Nonetheless Mr. Lee disclosed for the very first time during the postconviction evidentiary hearing that he himself elicited from Mrs. Montgomery her damaging testimony on the "date of her deposition." (T. 685). At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Lee testified as follows:

Q: The statement was made to you?

A: I talked -

Q: What was the – what was the date of that statement?

A: It was the date of her deposition.

Q: Do you recall the date or –

A: I'd have to look at her deposition to tell you the date.

But I can tell you precisely the circumstances and what she told me.

(T. 684-685).

The record indicates, however, that Mrs. Montgomery was never, in fact, deposed. Indeed, at the beginning of the cross-examination, trial counsel, Mr. Ahlbrand, says to Mrs. Montgomery, "Ma'am, you and I have never met before." (R. 1103).

During the investigation, several undercover operations were conducted which were recorded. On May 29, 1996, an operation was conducted which police reports indicated it was recorded but the recording was never disclosed to the defense. According to Detective Weir he was wired during the May 29, 1996 surveillance as he had been in other undercover operations. When asked if the operation was being recorded Weir responded by saying "In this operation, uh, as far as I was concerned, that's why I had a bug, I though they were going to be recorded." (T. 363). Additionally, according to police reports of the surveillance, Weir testified that he was wired "[t]o record any conversations that may take place" and he believed he was being recorded. (T. 364-365). Although Weir has never seen a tape of the May 29th operation, he believed a recording was done. (T.

367). Although Sergeant Goff was not aware of a tape recording being made on May 29th, he testified that "somebody usually has a recording device, I should say." (T. 375) Detective Hobbs testified that Weir was wearing a UNITEL device as standard operating procedure and that the Sherriff's Office generally recorded undercover operations. (T. 394). In fact, Detective Hobbs' report reflects the conversations between Weir and Mr. Conahan were recorded. (T. 396). Detective Columbia's report also reflects that he was told Investigator Padula and Sergeant Goff made a recording of the undercover operation. (T. 358). Columbia makes this assertion in his report because "otherwise I would not have wrote [sic] it down." (T. 358). Finally, Detective Clemons testified that he wore recording devices in his undercover dealing with Mr. Conahan and all interactions were recorded. (T. 409).

Paul Sullivan, second chair counsel, testified on June 21-22, 2010 (T. 61-285). He stated that Mark Ahlbrand, lead trial counsel, called him to ask him to work on the Conahan case (T. 62-63). He further testified that he was working on the "Jimbo" Ford capital murder case during the same time period as the Conahan case and that he used mitigation specialists Roy Mathews and Laura Blankman on both cases (T. 64). He identified Exhibits C, D, F, and G which established that Ahlbrand entered his appearance on March 5, 1997, filed a motion for co-counsel on April 11, 1997 and that Sullivan was appointed to the Conahan case on June 11,

1997 (T. 66). Sullivan testified that generally he was going to be more responsible for working on "the mitigation side of the case" (T. 67). Defendant's Exh. E was introduced to show that Bill Clement was appointed on April 28, 1997 at Ahlbrand's request, prior to Sullivan's appointment. (T. 69). Exhibits K, L, and N were introduced and admitted to show that psychiatric expert Dr. Keown was requested by Ahlbrand and appointed to the Conahan case on April 28, 1997, prior to Sullivan's appointment on June 11, and that Dr. Keown's evaluation was begun on June 4, 1997 and completed on July 22, 1997 (T. 70).

Mr. Sullivan testified he did not recall much about Dr. Gunder, the first defense expert appointed before he was on the Conahan case (Exh. I). Gunder produced a psycho-sexual evaluation report that was later provided to Dr. Keown. (Exh. J)(T. 72-81). Two years later, on September 24, 1999, Mr. Sullivan sent Dr. Charles Golden copies of the reports of Dr. Keown and Dr. Gunder after Dr. Golden was appointed on September 9, 1999 at Roy Mathews recommendation as a penalty phase neuropsychological expert (T. 74; 82-83); (Exh. T)(R. 2818). Sullivan testified that he moved for a new expert after the guilt phase because Dr. Keown had examined Mr. Conahan and had not found any particular psychiatric difficulties with Mr. Conahan (T. 74); Dr. Gunder was a clinical sexologist with only a masters degree (T. 76); Ahlbrand had hired Gunder to get his opinion about whether Mr. Conahan "fit some sort of profile as [a] sexual sadist" (T. 78); and

Dr. Keown's job had not been to help with mitigation but only "to tell us if there was something psychiatrically wrong with our client" (T. 87).

Mitigation specialist Roy Mathews later testified that he was unaware of the prior appointment of the two experts appointed in 1997 or of their reports, Exhs. J and N, until July 1999 (T. 553). He testified that when he reviewed the reports he noticed that both evaluations were conducted with deputies present in the room and he did not believe either report was helpful for mitigation and he advised Paul Sullivan "that we should have our own evaluation done as we got further into the case, gathered more history and records. . . And I thought there were issues that we want[ed] to look into, separate and apart from these evaluations" (T. 556-57). Mathews testified that he recommended neuropsychologist Dr. Charles Golden, and later a psychiatrist, Dr. Fred Berlin (T. 560). He testified that the neuropsychologist would look at entirely different issues than the two earlier experts, "[c]ognitive impairments; how the brain would function and how it might manifest in certain behaviors. Essentially the functioning of the brain" (T. 560). And he testified that Dr. Golden would administer a battery of neuropsychological tests (T. 561). Dr. Golden was appointed for 12 hours of work at \$150 an hour (T. 82-83)(Exh. R, S). Mathews testified that his own notes indicated that Dr. Golden never did the evaluation of Mr. Conahan (T. 562-63)(Exh. FFF).

Sullivan testified that his complete failure to have Dr. Golden do the

neuropsychological testing and to followup the denial without prejudice of the motion to appoint psychiatrist Dr. Fred Berlin was because: "I had absolutely zero inkling that my client had a mental disorder, had psychiatric disorders, had psychiatric problems that qualified as mitigation" *See* Exh. P&Q (T. 133). Sullivan did not think that the prior mental health evaluations, essentially exhibiting his client's normality, were useful: "I did not have, that I could see, a psychiatric problem, or defense, or syndrome, or something that I could latch onto and use through an expert" (T. 117).

Mathews identified a detailed interview he had with Mr. Conahan on September 4, 1999 (T. 585-86)(Eh. KK). He testified that he and Laura Blankman also prepared a witness contact sheet for Sullivan only a week before the penalty phase (T. 577-78)(Exh EEE). Sullivan testified that in the Ford case he tried, there were three mental health professionals working on the penalty phase, including two who ended up testifying: Dr. Greer, a psychiatrist from the University of Florida, and a psychologist recruited by Roy Mathews named Dr. Mastin (T. 95). Sullivan's view of the role of the appointed mitigation specialists in both the Conahan and Ford cases was that they were consultants. (T. 96). They did not take part in the penalty phase in the Conahan case (T. 97).

Laura Blankman testified that she was the field worker on the mitigation team who did interviews of lay witnesses (T. 603). She testified that she met with

their client's sister, with the Chicago-based family of the client's former boyfriend, Hal Linde, and with Mr. Conahan's "Aunt" Betty Wilson in Ft. Lauderdale. She also testified that she did telephone interviews with Mr. Conahan's half brother in New York and with his ex-wife in Miami Beach but "at the stage we were when we left the case, all of my interview memos were not complete" (T. 606-10, 622)(Exh. NN).

Blankman testified that she and Mathews did not attend or testify at the Conahan trial (T. 613). She testified that trial counsel Sullivan was negligent and uninvolved in the preparation of the penalty phase case: "In the Conahan case, Mr. Sullivan was not as involved [as in Ford]. Not talking with us, not returning our calls, not consulting with us, and leaving us without guidance" (T. 616).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present mixed questions of law and fact subject to plenary review. *Occhicone v. State*, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1045 (Fla. 2000). This Court independently reviews the trial court's legal conclusions and defers to the trial court's findings of fact.

A postconviction court's decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing is subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Conahan is entitled to relief for several reasons. First, he was denied the effective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of the trail. Counsel failed to challenge *Williams* Rule evidence, failed to request a *Richardson* hearing based on the state's discover violation and failed to request the assistance of a forensic audio expert. All these deficiencies operated to Mr. Conahan's substantial prejudice requiring a new trial.

Relief is also warranted where the state committed a *Giglio* violation where it presented the known false and misleading testimony of a key witness, Mrs. Montgomery. Her testimony at trial differed markedly from her recorded statement to the police and was at minimum misleading. The state was required to clarify and correct her misleading testimony. Instead the state exacerbated the harm and prejudice entitling Mr. Conahan to relief.

The state also violated *Brady* in that it recorded an undercover surveillance and failed to turn over a copy of the recording. There was significant testimony and evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing indicating a recording was made. That it was never turned over is manifest of a *Brady* violation.

Mr. Conahan also received ineffective assistance of counsel during his penalty phase where trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and present mitigation evidence. The mitigation specialist appointed were never called to

testify at trial scant forensic evidence was presented which failed to present the jury with an adequate picture of Mr. Conahan in mitigation.

Finally, the state's persistent prosecutorial misconduct from the *Giglio* violation, the *Brady* violation, the *nolle prosiqui* of the Burden case, the testimony of Hal Linde, and numerous prejudicial comments all conspired to deny Mr.

Conahan a fair trial in violation of the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

ARGUMENT I

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