#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL OWEN CONAHAN, JR.

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-615 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

Rather, in arguing that trial counsel was deficient, collateral counsel relies on Sullivan's work in an unrelated capital case (James "Jimbo" Ford) and asserts that counsel was deficient in the instant case because he spent a greater amount of time in the Ford case. 28 As Sullivan explained, however, the Ford case was factually different as the defendant had a great deal of mental mitigation and nonstatutory mitigation to investigate and present. See Ford v. State, 802 So. 2d 1121, 1126-27 (Fla. 2001) (noting that trial counsel Sullivan presented over two dozen witnesses including two mental health experts and several family members and friends). As Sullivan explained, both he and his mitigation investigators billed far greater hours in the Ford case because there was a need for such work given Ford's background, whereas in Conahan's case, Conahan did not have any mental health issues and had very few friends or family. Clearly, the record supports the lower court's finding that Conahan failed to establish that his trial counsel was deficient in the investigation and presentation of mitigating evidence in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Collateral counsel cites to the billing statements utilized by the attorneys and mitigation investigators, and while certainly these provide a written report of definitive actions taken by the parties, it should be noted that attorney Sullivan testified that he cheated himself out of *hundreds* of hours of work on this case by not submitting a bill for all the work he performed. (PCR V13:100-04).

Although not required to address the prejudice prong of <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a> given Conahan's failure to establish deficient performance, this Court should also find that the lower court properly found that Conahan failed to establish that he was prejudiced. See <a href="Waterhouse v. State">Waterhouse v. State</a>, 792 So. 2d 1176, 1182 (Fla. 2001) (noting that "[w]hen a defendant fails to make a showing as to one prong, it is not necessary to delve into whether he has made a showing as to the other prong"); <a href="Zakrzewski v. State">Zakrzewski v. State</a>, 866 So. 2d 688, 692 (Fla. 2003). Even if Conahan were able to establish that trial counsels' performance fell below the norms for professional conduct regarding this claim, he failed to establish that there was a reasonable probability that he would have received a life sentence had they performed as alleged.

As trial counsel noted at the evidentiary hearing, and as confirmed by the complete lack of evidence at the postconviction proceedings, there simply is not much beneficial information available to assist Conahan in the penalty phase. Collateral counsel has failed to identify any compelling mitigating evidence that trial counsel should have presented. Although collateral counsel faults trial counsel for failing to have Conahan examined by Drs. Golden or Berlin, he failed to present these witnesses or any similar mental health experts at the evidentiary hearing. Compare Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 986

(Fla. 2000) (stating that trial counsel's reasonable investigation is not rendered incompetent merely because the defendant has now secured the testimony of a more favorable expert in postconviction). Here, trial counsel had the benefit of two mental health experts' evaluations prior to trial and these experts did not find any noteworthy mental health issues. As this Court recently noted in <a href="Hurst v. State"><u>Hurst v. State</u></a>, 18 So. 3d 975 (Fla. 2009):

In assessing prejudice, we reweigh the evidence in aggravation against the totality of the mental health mitigation presented during the postconviction evidentiary hearing to determine if our confidence in the outcome of the penalty phase trial is undermined.

Id. at 1013 (quoting Hannon v. State, 941 So. 2d 1109, 1134 (Fla. 2006) (citations omitted)). Clearly, Conahan has failed to offer any mitigating evidence that would result in a life sentence in light of the three aggravating factors in this case:

(1) the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC); the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP); and (3) the murder was committed during the course of a kidnapping. <sup>29</sup> Because Conahan failed to meet his burden of proof under Strickland by introducing any mitigating evidence which undermines confidence

This Court has previously noted that HAC and CCP are two of the strongest aggravating circumstances set forth in Florida's capital statutory scheme. See Larkins v. State, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999).

in the outcome of the proceedings, this Court should affirm the lower court's finding that Conahan failed to establish any prejudice based on trial counsel's alleged deficient performance.

## ISSUE V

CONAHAN'S CLAIM REGARDING PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

his final claim, Conahan argues that prosecutorial misconduct constitutes fundamental error entitling him to a new trial. On direct appeal, Conahan's appellate counsel raised an issue regarding prosecutorial misconduct during the penalty phase opening and closing arguments and this Court found that only one of the objected-to comments was improper, but concluded that the prosecutor's comment in opening statements regarding the Williams rule evidence was harmless error. See Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629, 638-40 (Fla. 2003). Regarding the other preserved allegations of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court found that the comments were not improper. Id. at 639-41. Conahan also raised allegations of prosecutorial misconduct where trial counsel had not objected, and this Court found that the unobjected-to comments did not constitute fundamental error, and when viewed cumulatively with the objected-to comments, did not deprive Conahan of a fair penalty phase hearing. Id.

In his postconviction motion, Conahan argued that these instances of alleged prosecutorial misconduct, along with other alleged instances of prosecutorial misconduct, constituted fundamental error entitling him to postconviction relief. The lower court found that Appellant's claim was procedurally barred

as it was a claim which could or should have been raised on direct appeal. (PCR V9:1710-12). As the court properly noted, Conahan's attempt to evade the procedural bar by couching his claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel is unavailing and misplaced. This Court has consistently recognized that "[a]llegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that post conviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal." Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995).

finding Conahan's claims procedurally In addition to barred, the lower court also addressed the merits of the claims. In his first sub-claim, Conahan argued that the State improperly delayed the prosecution of the case in which Stanley Burden was the victim so that the State could utilize this as Williams rule evidence in the instant case, and also argued that trial counsel ineffective for failing was to object to this alleged prosecutorial misconduct. 30 The lower court summarily denied Conahan's claim and noted that collateral counsel's allegations sub-claim "are conclusory and this in support of speculation" and postconviction relief cannot be based on his speculative assertions. (PCR V13:1710-11). The court further stated:

Conahan asserted this argument in two separate claims in his postconviction motion. (PCR V2:377-83, 427-29).

in claim Defendant arques XIX that constitutional rights were violated when prosecution engaged in misconduct by delaying his prosecution in the Burden case in order to gain a tactical advantage in the instant case. He claims the prosecution engaged in practices designed to deprive him of his speedy trial and due process rights in the Burden case, thereby depriving him of the right to challenge the Williams rule evidence in the instant Defendant explains that, if he had acquitted in the Burden case, the doctrine collateral estoppel would have prevented the State from using the Burden facts as Williams rule evidence in the instant case. He argues that the prosecution indefinitely delayed the Burden trial by its nolle prosse in order to secure the Burden evidence for use Williams rule evidence in the instant case. Defendant argues that the due process violation in the Burden case resulted in a due process violation in the instant case. Finally, Defendant also claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this argument before the trial court.

Court notes that Defendant admits motion that his speedy trial rights in the Burden case were waived by his attorney. The decision to file a nolle prosse is within the sole discretion of the State. State v. M.J.B., 576 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Furthermore, pursuant to State v. Agee, 622 So. 2d 473, 475 (Fla. 1993), "when the State enters a nol pros, the speedy trial period [under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191] continues to run and the State may not refile charges based on the same conduct after the period has expired." Thus, contrary to Defendant's assertion, the State did not indefinitely delay the Burden case by entering a nolle prosse. In fact, prosecution was never "delayed" in the Burden case because the State never refiled the charges. The Court finds that the State's decision to nolle prosse the Burden case and later introduce the Burden evidence as Williams rule evidence in the instant case did not violate Defendant's rights and did not constitute misconduct. In light of this finding, the Court further finds that Defendant's trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise this argument before the trial court. Trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing

to raise meritless claims. <u>Teffeteller v. Dugger</u>, 734 So. 2d 1009 [Fla. 1999]. Accordingly, claim XIX is denied.

(PCR V3:521-23).

This Court has stated that a "defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a postconviction relief motion unless (1) the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief, or (2) the motion or a particular claim is legally insufficient." Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000); see also Parker v. State, 904 So. 2d 370, 376 (Fla. 2005). "The defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden." Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 9 (Fla. 2003). Where the postconviction motion lacks sufficient factual allegations, or where the alleged facts do not render the judgment vulnerable to collateral attack, the motion may be summarily denied. <a href="Hamilton\_v">Hamilton\_v</a>. State, 875 So. 2d 586, 591 (Fla. 2004).

A defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel if he alleges specific "facts which are not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate a deficiency in performance that prejudiced the defendant." Hamilton v. State, 875 So. 2d 586,

591 (Fla. 2004). However, a "defendant may not simply file a for postconviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing." State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 135 (Fla. 2003). In order for a motion to be facially sufficient, the defendant must allege specific legal and factual grounds that demonstrate a cognizable claim for If a defendant's conclusory allegations supported by a properly pled factual basis, the claim is facially insufficient and should be summarily denied. See Davis v. State, 875 So. 2d 359, 368 (Fla. 2003). Thus, an evidentiary hearing is warranted on an ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim only where a defendant alleges specific facts, not conclusively rebutted by the record, which demonstrate a deficiency in performance that prejudiced the defendant. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995).

In the instant case, as the lower court properly found, Conahan's claim that the State engaged in misconduct by delaying the prosecution of the case in which Stanley Burden was a victim is without merit as the State filed a nol pros, Conahan's trial counsel waived his speedy trial rights, and the State never refiled the charges. Likewise, his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this alleged misconduct was

properly summarily denied because trial counsel had no legal basis to object to the State's filing of a nol pros in the Burden case. Finally, contrary to Conahan's assertion, the Williams rule evidence regarding the Burden case was properly admitted by the trial judge at Conahan's bench trial as the State proved by clear and convincing evidence that Conahan committed the crimes against Burden. Because the record supports the trial court's summary denial of this claim, this Court should affirm the court's order denying this sub-claim.

Conahan alleges in his next sub-claim that the State engaged in misconduct by admitting evidence from Conahan's former lover, Hal Linde, that Conahan discussed a sexual fantasy with him involving Conahan picking up a hitchhiker and taking him to the woods, tying him to a tree and having sex with him. Conahan alleges that this testimony constituted fundamental error because it was admitted solely to show Conahan's bad character. Contrary to Conahan's assertion, this testimony was admissible as it was clearly relevant to Conahan's motive in the instant case and was not offered simply to show bad character. The evidence surrounding the victim's murder, as well as the Williams rule evidence, all showed that Conahan focused on picking up hitchhiker-type males to take to the woods and tie up in an attempt to have sex with them. Furthermore, even if the

trial court erred in admitting this evidence at the bench trial, it was harmless error given the other properly-admitted evidence surrounding Conahan's actions of attempting to sexually assault Stanley Burden by tying him to a tree and to solicit other males to engage in sexual bondage scenes. Conahan also testified that he admitted to officers that he fantasized about tying people up in the woods. Because the testimony from Hal Linde was properly admitted, Conahan has failed to establish any fundamental error regarding this claim.

Finally, Conahan claims that the State made improper comments during the argument on his motion for judgment of acquittal and during closing arguments, 31 and repeats his meritless claims regarding the alleged recording of a conversation between Detective Weir and Conahan during an undercover operation and Mary Montgomery allegedly giving false testimony and argues that, cumulatively, these instances of

<sup>31</sup> Conahan claims that the State "misrepresented" the testimony of John Newman during the argument on Conahan's motion for judgment of acquittal. (DAR V34:1860-61). As the lower court properly noted when denying this allegation, the fact that Conahan does not like the State's argument does not make it "improper." (PCR V9:1711-12). During the argument on the judgment of acquittal, the State properly summarized Newman's testimony and noted that Newman testified regarding Conahan's statement that Montgomery was his one mistake. The lower court rejected Conahan's claim regarding the prosecutor's comments during the argument on the judgment of acquittal or in closing arguments, and found the comments proper. Likewise, because there was no prosecutorial misconduct, trial counsel could not be ineffective for failing to raise a meritless objection.

alleged prosecutorial misconduct, ineffective assistance counsel, or Brady/Giglio violations entitle him to relief. 32 As the lower court properly found, because Conahan failed to establish any individual errors regarding these meritless procedurally barred claims, his cumulative error argument is without merit. (PCR V9:1725); see Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1040 n.3 (Fla. 2000) (finding claim that the cumulative impact of errors at trial was an issue which must be raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred in postconviction litigation); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (finding that where allegations of individual error are found to be without merit, a cumulative error argument based on the asserted errors must likewise fail); Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998) (reasoning that where each claim is either meritless or procedurally barred, cumulative error cannot be considered). Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower denial of Conahan's cumulative court's error claim of prosecutorial misconduct.

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